70432.0



No. 70432-0-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

v.

VINCI CONSTRUCTION GRANDS PROJETS/PARSONS RCI/ FRONTIER-KEMPER, JV, a Washington joint venture; and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA, a Connecticut corporation, LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, a Massachusetts corporation; FEDERAL INSURANCE COMPANY, an Indiana corporation; FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT COMPANY OF MARYLAND, a Maryland corporation; and ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a New York corporation,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE LAURA GENE MIDDAUGH

I. INTRODUCTION

King County hired Vinci Construction Grands Projets/Parsons RCI/Frontier-Kemper, JV (VPFK) to construct the two middle sections (BT-2 and BT-3) of a four-section, 13-mile tunnel running from the Brightwater wastewater treatment plant to Puget Sound. Appellants Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, Federal Insurance Company, Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland, and Zurich American Insurance Company (collectively, the Sureties) issued the performance bond required by RCW 39.08.010 for the project. Neither the bond nor the construction contract, both of which the County alone drafted, contained a provision allowing a prevailing party to obtain attorney fees.

The ground conditions proved to be different from those indicated by the construction contract, making the work more difficult, costly, and time-consuming. The County declared VPFK in default but did not terminate VPFK or demand that the Sureties remedy the supposed default. Instead, after two mediations, the County and VPFK reached agreements under which VPFK completed all of the remaining project work except the excavation of the second half of the BT-3 tunnel, for which the County hired another contractor. The County then filed this breach of contract action against VPFK and the Sureties, and VPFK filed counterclaims against the County.

The jury awarded the County more than \$155 million in damages against VPFK, but made no findings on the Sureties' liability under the performance bond. The trial court nevertheless entered a final Judgment holding the Sureties jointly and severally liable for all the damages awarded against VPFK. The trial court also awarded the County judgment against the Sureties alone for \$14,720,387.19, all of the attorney fees and costs the County incurred in its contract dispute with VPFK. The trial court relied on Olympic Steamship, Inc. v. Centennial Insurance Co., 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991), and Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Insurance Company of the West, 161 Wn.2d 577, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007), in making its award. In Olympic Steamship, the Supreme Court applied equitable principles to justify a fee award to an insured that was forced to sue its insurer to obtain coverage for a loss covered by its insurance policy. In Colorado Structures, a slim majority of the Court expanded *Olympic Steamship* to justify a fee award in favor of a private contractor that was forced to sue the surety on a

subcontractor's performance bond on a private construction project.

The part of the Judgment holding the Sureties liable for the County's attorney fees and costs should be reversed because Colorado Structures does not support a fee award in favor of a public agency against a statutory surety on a public works project. In the Public Works Act, RCW 39.04.240, the Legislature directed that the provisions of RCW 4.84.250-.280 govern fee awards in cases arising out of public works contracts. The County did not qualify for an award under that scheme, and our courts will not apply equitable principles such as those underlying Olympic Steamship to alter rights expressly governed by statute. In any event, it would be inequitable to award fees in this case. The County chose not to include a fee provision in either the construction contract or the bond, both of which it alone drafted. Absent a contractual fee provision, the equitable principles governing *Olympic Steamship* do not justify a unilateral fee award in favor of a governmental entity against a statutory surety on a performance bond.

Even if the County was entitled to a fee award in some amount, it was not entitled to an award against the Sureties of *all*

3

the fees it incurred in this lengthy and complex dispute. The County incurred the vast bulk of its fees prosecuting its breach of contract claim against VPFK and defending against VPFK's counterclaims. Those fees are not recoverable under *Olympic Steamship* or *Colorado Structures* because they do not relate to a coverage determination under the bond, and the trial court erred in failing to require the County to segregate any recoverable fees.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by awarding attorney fees and costs to the County against the Sureties on April 19, 2013, and by entering a \$14,720,387.19 Judgment against the Sureties for fees and costs. (CP 4490-91, 4537)

2. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 8:

This Court considered and ruled on numerous dispositive and pre-trial motions. King County's work on these motions was reasonable and the County is entitled to all fees and costs sought in connection with the dispositive and pre-trial motions.

(CP 4487)

3. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 9:

This Court presided over the trial of this matter. King County's work at trial was reasonable and necessary, given King County proved its default claim and responded to Defendants' wide-ranging claims and defenses, and King County is entitled to full recovery of all fees and costs sought for work performed during the course of trial. The defendants do not dispute the reasonableness of the amounts requested.

(CP 4487)

4. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 15:

In order to fulfill the purpose of Olympic Steamship and make King County whole, the fee award includes reasonable amounts for outside counsel, in-house counsel, expert witness fees, and costs.

(CP 4488 (deleting cited authorities))

5. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 16:

The amount of the fee award has been calculated using the lodestar method, multiplying a reasonable hourly rate by the reasonable number of hours spent on the lawsuit and does not include hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time. . . . The defendants did not dispute the amount of the fees requested, just legal issues as to whether the plaintiff is entitled to fees at all, the date from which the fees should run and whether plaintiff is entitled.

(CP 4488 (deleting cited authority))

6. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 19:

King County's claim of default against VPFK and the Sureties involved a common core of facts. Since the Sureties denied coverage and adopted all of VPFK's defenses, the claims could not and were not required to be segregated. (CP 4489)

7. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 20:

The Sureties adopted all of VPFK's defenses in this case, including claims for various differing site condition (DSC) claims, which, if proved in their entirety, would defeat King County's claim of default. The work King County did prosecuting its default claim against VPFK was also directly attributable to the Sureties, and the fee award cannot reasonably be segregated as between VPFK and the Sureties.

(CP 4489 (deleting cited authority))

8. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 21:

The jury found for RCO 65 and 66 (the two largest awards to VPFK) that VPFK was "not capable of segregating its damages . . . because of the overlapping and interconnected nature of the claims." Dkt. 621A (Verdict Form, Questions 9.f and 12.g). Where, as here, the claims are so related that "no reasonable segregation of successful and unsuccessful claims can be made, there need be no segregation of attorney fees."

(CP 4489 (deleting cited authorities))

9. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 26:

The amount of the fees, expert expenses, and costs awarded to King County as of [sic] is as follows:

King County's Fees a	nd Costs
Attorney Fees (Stoel Rives)	\$ 7,991,010.72
In-House Counsel Fees	\$ 874,276.36
Other Professional Services & Expert Fees and Costs	\$ 5,980,020.03
Subtotal	\$ 14,845,307.11
Deductions	(124,919.92)
TOTAL	\$14,720,387.19

(CP 4490)

10. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that the Sureties were jointly and severally liable with VPFK. (CP 9112)

11. In the event of remand for new trial, the trial court should instruct the jury on the Sureties' independent defenses to liability. (See CP 7858)

12. The trial court erred in the respects set forth in the Assignments of Error in VPFK's opening brief, which the Sureties adopt by this reference as permitted by RAP 10.1(g).

III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. May the County recover attorney fees from the Sureties under the equitable exception to the American Rule recognized in Olympic Steamship and Colorado Structures when (1) fee awards in actions arising out of a public works contract are governed by a comprehensive statutory scheme under which the County did not qualify for fees, and (2) the County shielded itself from liability for fees by not including a fee provision in either the construction contract or the Sureties' bond, both of which the County alone drafted?

B. If the County was entitled to a fee award, was the County required to segregate the recoverable fees it incurred litigating any coverage dispute with the Sureties from the nonrecoverable fees the County incurred litigating its contract dispute with VPFK?

The Sureties also adopt by reference the Issues Related to Assignments of Error in VPFK's opening brief. RAP 10.1(g).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Sureties Issued A Performance Bond Under The Public Works Act. Neither The Bond Nor The Underlying Contract, Both Of Which The County Alone Drafted, Contained A Fee Provision.

The Sureties incorporate by reference the Statement of the Case in VPFK's opening brief. The following additional facts bear on the issues the Sureties raise in this appeal.

RCW 39.08.010 and the Central Contract between VPFK and the County required VPFK to provide a performance bond. (CP 5383; RP 4989; Ex. 6 at §§ 4.01(B), 4.02 [KC 000028-29]) VPFK provided the required bond, on a form dictated and prepared by the County, jointly issued by the five Sureties who appeal here. The bond, Exhibit 3001 at trial, is Appendix A to this brief. Under the bond, VPFK was the principal and the County was the obligee. (Ex. 3001, at 1) The Sureties bound themselves "in the full sum of the Contract Price of ... (\$211,076,058.00), and including any and all adjustments to the Contract Amount, for the faithful performance" of the Central Contract. If VPFK were to "faithfully perform all provisions of such Agreement ... then this obligation is void, otherwise to remain in full force and effect." The Sureties' obligation was: "whenever Contractor shall be, and declared by Owner to be in default under the Contract, the Owner having performed Owner's obligations thereunder, the Surety, at the request of the Owner, shall promptly remedy the default in a manner acceptable to the Owner." (Ex. 3001)

B. Months After The County Declared A Default And Negotiated An Interim Agreement With VPFK, The County Demanded That The Sureties Remedy The Default On 8 Days Notice. The County Withdrew Its Demand When It Hired Another Contractor For A Specific Portion Of The Work.

After months of delays and difficulties stemming from differing site conditions and the County's requirement that VPFK use a slurry tunnel boring machine in its work (VPFK Br. at 11-25), the County declared VPFK in default on October 28, 2009. (RP 2089, 2102-03; Ex. 142 at 3) The County did not directly notify the Sureties of the claimed default, and it did not demand that the Sureties perform under the bond. Over three months later, and after several days of mediation, the County and VPFK on February 15, 2010, entered into an Interim Agreement providing that the County would engage another contractor, JDC, to complete the excavation of the remaining half of the BT-3 tunnel, and would issue a change order deducting the remainder of the work on that tunnel from VPFK's contract ("deductive change order"). (Ex. 152) VPFK remained responsible for completion of all other project work, including completion of the BT-e tunnel after it was excavated. On February 25, 2010, VPFK and the County executed another agreement providing that VPFK would receive specified incentive payments if it completed the excavation of the BT-2 tunnel by specified milestone dates. (Ex. 155 at 1) The Sureties did not participate in the negotiations that culminated in these agreements and change orders. Nor had the Sureties consented to the County's plan to retain JDC. (RP 4958; Ex. 3019 at 2)

On February 26, 2010, the County sent a letter to VPFK's counsel, seeking assurances from the Sureties (1) that the

10

contemplated deductive change order would "not affect the validity of the bond, which will continue to cover the entire amount of the Central Contract (as adjusted in that change order)"; (2) that the County had "satisfied all notice requirements so as to preserve its positions that (a) VPFK is in default and consequently; (b) both VPFK and the surety are liable for the cost overrun of completing the BT-3 mining work"; and (3) that the County's engagement of JDC to complete the BT-3 excavation work on a "cost reimbursement basis is not a violation of any right the surety may have to complete the BT-3 work itself or to engage another contractor." (Ex. 3014 at 2)

In the first direct communication between the Sureties and the County, the Sureties responded on March 10, 2010. (Ex. 3015) The Sureties agreed that the deductive change order would not affect the bond's validity and that VPFK and the County had reserved their respective rights to dispute responsibility for the costs and expenses associated with retaining JDC. The Sureties reserved their "rights and defenses to dispute the alleged underlying default which gave rise to King[] County['s] retention of [JDC] including the reasonableness of any compensation paid by King County to [JDC] in connection with the BT-3 work," and noted that the County had yet to make any claim or demand under the bond. (Ex. 3015)

In a March 18, 2010, letter to VPFK's counsel (Ex. 3016), the County responded that it could not retain JDC if the Sureties did not consent and if they reserved their rights to assert new defenses under the bond based on retention of JDC. For the first time, the County demanded that the Sureties perform their obligation under the bond to remedy VPFK's alleged default. (RP 4966; Ex. 3016 at 1-2) The County gave the Sureties eight days to agree, and threatened that if the Sureties did not respond by that deadline "the County may be forced to move forward and engage [JDC] on its own." (Ex. 3016 at 2; *see* RP 4985)

The Sureties promptly began to investigate whether VPFK was actually in default (Ex. 3019 at 3-4; Ex. 3024 at 1-3)—a condition precedent to the Sureties' obligations under the bond. (Ex. 3001; Ex. 3024 at 4) The Sureties and the County's counsel met for the first time on March 24, and again on March 30, 2010, to discuss VPFK's alleged default. (Ex. 3019 at 1; Ex. 3024 at 1)

The County insisted that VPFK's default was "clear," hence no investigation was needed. (Ex. 3019 at 3-4; RP 4986) On April 12, 2010, the County sent another letter to VPFK's counsel

12

confirming that, as contemplated in the Interim Agreement, the County intended to sign a contract with JDC to complete the excavation work on the BT-3 tunnel and then to issue the deductive change order to VPFK. (Ex. 3025) The County sought the Sureties' consent that this proposed course of action:

> will not give the Sureties grounds for any new defense to its obligation on the Bond that did not exist prior to the execution of this letter. By consenting to the course of action above, the Sureties are not consenting to the reasonableness or necessity of payments made to JDC or others. Moreover, the Sureties are not consenting to the appropriateness of any future conduct of the County or VPFK. The Sureties' consent is limited to the contractual procedure in which the County intends to complete BT-3. The Sureties hereby reserve all rights.

(Ex. 3025 at 2) The County further stated that, if the Sureties agreed to these terms, the County "hereby terminates any pending demand on the Sureties related to VPFK and the subject performance bond; provided the County reserves its right to claim that the Sureties are jointly and severally liable with VPFK (if it is shown that VPFK is in default)." (Ex. 3025 at 1)

On April 19, 2010, the Sureties agreed to the terms set forth in the County's April 12 letter (Ex. 3025 at 2; RP 4995-98) and stopped investigating VPFK's alleged default. (RP 5001) That same day, the County signed a contract, which JDC had executed on April 2, 2010, to complete the excavation work on BT-3. (CP 5409; Ex. 3022)

C. After The County Filed This Action, The Sureties Resumed Their Investigation And Ultimately Denied The County's Claim Under The Performance Bond.

Unbeknown to the Sureties, on April 19, 2010, the County also filed its complaint in this action, naming VPFK and lead surety Travelers as defendants. (CP 1) The County's operative second amended complaint, filed July 6, 2010, alleged a cause of action against Travelers for breach of contract, i.e., the bond. (CP 43-45) The County's prayer for relief did not include a request for attorney fees. (CP 45)

The Sureties treated the County's complaint as a reinstatement of its claim under the bond, and resumed their investigation. (RP 5009) Based on that investigation, the Sureties concluded that, "to the extent VPFK failed to comply with its contractual obligations, such failure was the result of defective specifications, [differing site conditions] and/or a cardinal change in the Contract. VPFK is not in default of its contract obligations and the County has not performed its obligations thereunder." (Ex. 3000 at 20-21) Accordingly, on August 4, 2010, the Sureties formally denied the County's claim on the bond. (Ex. 3000 at 21)

The next day, Travelers filed its answer to the County's second amended complaint. (CP 116) The four unnamed co-Sureties also intervened as defendants and filed their answer to the County's second amended complaint. (CP 138)

D. After The Court Denied The Sureties' Motion For Summary Judgment, The Jury Found VPFK Was In Default But Made No Finding Against The Sureties.

In June 2012, the Sureties filed a motion for summary judgment contending they should be exonerated from liability under the bond because (1) the County failed to satisfy the conditions precedent to the Sureties' obligations under the bond, including the requirement in the Central Contract that the County terminate VPFK before calling on the Sureties to perform obligations under the bond, and (2) the County materially altered the Contract when it entered into the Interim Agreement and hired JDC to complete the BT-3 excavation. (CP 4953-57, 4960-64)

On August 7, 2012, the trial court denied the Sureties' motion for summary judgment on the grounds that "Factual issues remain as to whether a portion of the contract was in fact terminated, whether the contractor was in default, and whether the Surety was provided with sufficient time to respond to King County's request that it remedy the default...." (CP 1083)

Less than a month later, the case against the Sureties was tried together with the County's case against VPFK. But the County did not pursue any claim that the Sureties breached the bond by failing to remedy VPFK's default. (RP 6132 (County's counsel: "[W]e're not proceeding under that last paragraph of the bond.")) Rather, the County contended that under the bond and the Central Contract, the Sureties were "equally liable for" any default damages assessed against VPFK. (RP 6124)

Although in its summary judgment ruling the trial court had identified factual issues whether the Sureties had been given sufficient time to investigate and respond to the County's demands, the trial court now instructed the jury that "[I]f you find that VPFK is liable for damages, the Sureties will be jointly and severally liable for those damages." (RP 6817; CP 9112) The court refused to ask the jury to decide the factual issues the court had identified in denying summary judgment: whether the Sureties were denied a reasonable opportunity to investigate the alleged default, and whether the County's retention of JDC to complete the excavation work on the BT-3 tunnel with a different boring machine on a timeand-materials basis constituted a material alteration to the Central Contract that exonerated the bond. (RP 5651-54, 5738, 6114-15, 6128-31; CP 7858)

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