70432-0

No. 70432-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KING COUNTY,

Plaintiff/Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

V.

VINCI CONSTRUCTION GRANDS PROJETS/PARSONS RCI/FRONTIER-KEMPER, JV, a Washington joint venture, et al.,

Defendants/Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Laura Gene Middaugh)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT KING COUNTY, IN RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANT VINCI CONSTRUCTION GRANDS PROJETS/PARSONS RCI/FRONTIER-KEMPER, JV

Leonard J. Feldman (WSBA No. 20961)
David R. Goodnight (WSBA No. 20286)
Karl F. Oles (WSBA No. 16401)
Hunter Ferguson (WSBA No. 41485)
STOEL RIVES LLP
600 University Street, Suite 3600

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

pipe repair work. To begin with, there can be no dispute that VPFK did not timely disclose Mr. Habashi's proposed testimony. Under the Case Schedule, primary and responsive expert reports were due on February 24 and March 23, 2012, respectively. CP 9293. VPFK was aware of this requirement, as it disclosed a report by Mr. Habashi on each of these dates. CP 9135 ("Cogeric's reports"). Neither report expressed Mr. Habashi's opinion about the BT-1 pipe repair work. *Id.* ("Cogeric's new mandate"). That opinion was not disclosed until October 29, 2012 – seven months late. CP 9130.

VPFK had recognized the concurrent delay issue before these disclosure deadlines. King County provided substantial document discovery regarding the damages that King County claimed were caused by VPFK's delays. That, alone, should have put VPFK on notice regarding the need to analyze the causes of those claimed costs. Then, in his primary report, King County's damages expert, Ron Maus, expressly noted that he was aware of "other minor delays" on the Brightwater Project other than VPFK's default. CP 7574. In response to that analysis, Mr. Habashi criticized Mr. Maus for not including a "detailed schedule analysis of the overall Project" and acknowledged the issue of concurrent delay: "[I]f there were other delays to the Project, whether minor or not, they should be examined to establish whether or not they were concurrent

with the Central Tunnel delay." CP 7629 (March 23, 2012 report). Given Mr. Habashi's assessment of Mr. Maus' February 2012 expert report, VPFK had ample time to examine this issue if it really believed it was a viable defense to the County's damages.

The record also shows that VPFK's failure to pursue discovery on this issue was intentional, as confirmed by the following colloquy:

THE COURT: Why didn't you discover it earlier?

MR. KRIDER: Because, your Honor, the County never carried its burden of providing us the schedule analysis that demonstrated it in the first place. They never produced any documents in discovery relating to the other contracts and their delays and impacts.

THE COURT: But you knew that there were delays, and you just accepted their word that they didn't impact anything?

MR. KRIDER: No. We had an expert who said that that level of proof was insufficient on a prima facie basis for a delay claim.

RP 5042-43. As can be seen, VPFK knew about this issue, but chose to rely on their view that King County had a burden to show the absence of any concurrent delay rather than pursue discovery that might show that there was such delay. The trial court appropriately responded:

The fact that you don't think they met their burden so you didn't do any discovery on it, is a choice that you made, not to do any discovery on it. You don't get to go back and see how that impact [sic] anything.

RP 5044. On this record, the trial court was well within its discretion to exclude testimony that VPFK failed to disclose in accordance with the

trial court's deadlines. *See Scott*, 105 Wn. App. at 140; KCLCR 26(k)(4).¹⁴ On this basis alone, the Court can affirm.

Second, even if VPFK had timely disclosed the proposed testimony regarding the BT-1 pipe repair work (which it did not), the testimony was in any event substantively irrelevant. VPFK thoroughly examined King County's witnesses at trial regarding any alleged concurrent delays that could impact the County's damages analysis. In response to VPFK's questioning, Ms. Cochran testified that the County was not asking VPFK for any damages arising from the BT-1 pipe repair work. RP 5532. Mr. Maus likewise testified that King County was not seeking damages for any such delays. RP 5884-87.

The record confirms the above testimony. The BT-1 pipe repair work was first identified by the King County Auditor's Office as being on the critical path for the project in August 2012. The Auditor's report indicated only that the repair work would delay final commissioning of the

¹⁴ See also Allied Fin. Servs. v. Mangum, 72 Wn. App. 164, 168, 864 P.2d 1 (1993) ("violation of a court order without reasonable excuse will be deemed willful" (citing Lampard v. Roth, 38 Wn. App. 198, 202, 684 P.2d 1353 (1984))).

¹⁵ The phrase "critical path" refers to work that has a material impact on a project's completion date. See G.M. Shupe, Inc. v. United States, 5 Cl. Ct. 662, 728 (1984) ("If work on the critical path was delayed, then the eventual completion date of the project was delayed. Delay involving work not on the critical path generally had no impact on the eventual completion date of the project."). If work is not on the critical path, it cannot be a concurrent delay. See Haney v. United States, 230 Ct. Cl. 148, 168 (1982); 5 Philip L. Bruner & Patrick J. O'Connor, Jr., Bruner & O'Connor on Construction Law § 15:68 (2002).

conveyance system from late September 2012 to sometime in October 2012. CP 7425-27. But King County's claim for delay damages was based on the 18-month delay from March 2011 to September 2012. RP 2500, 2550-51. That is why, as Ms. Cochran and Mr. Maus testified, the BT-1 pipe repair work had no possible impact on King County's damages. CP 1744-47. Further, as Ms. Cochran testified, the County did not seek delay damages for the BT-1 pipe repair work. RP 5531-32.

Both VPFK's counsel and the trial court also recognized this point. When asked by the trial court (repeatedly) how the BT-1 pipe repair work was relevant to the County's delay damages, VPFK's counsel eventually admitted that any delay during the September to October 2012 time period – by itself – was "irrelevant." RP 5050-51. The trial court then ruled:

Then I guess what I'm going to say is that issue's not going to be discussed at all, and you can make it in a post-trial motion, if you want to make a motion for a new trial, if – because you're saying that the fact that it was delayed from September to October is irrelevant, it's what happened before September that is the most important part....

Id. For this reason too – because the BT-1 pipe repair work and associated delay were "irrelevant" to King County's damages – the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Mr. Habashi's proposed testimony.

2. VPFK Misrepresents The Record Regarding The Disclosure And Alleged Significance Of The BT-1 Pipe Repair Work.

VPFK's principal argument regarding the BT-1 pipe repair work is that the County violated its discovery obligations by failing to timely produce documents relating to this work. VPFK Br. 79-80. VPFK's argument is premised on a request for production of documents (RFP No. 6) "relating to the County's review or analysis of the critical path." CP 1673. King County did not produce information regarding the BT-1 pipe repair work in response to this request because the work did not affect the critical path until late August 2012, when the County determined that more extensive repairs were necessary (as identified in the King County Auditor's August 24, 2012 report). *See* CP 7425, 7427. As noted above, King County's claim for delay damages was not based on this delay. RP 2500, 2550-51, 5531-32.

Nor did any King County witness provide misleading deposition testimony on this point, as VPFK also claims. VPFK Br. 79-80. VPFK points to the testimony of "[t]he County's scheduling expert" (Ven-Hung Tseng), Ms. Cochran, and Mr. Maus. VPFK Br. 79. Mr. Tseng and Ms. Cochran each testified in June 2012 – approximately two months *before*

¹⁶ VPFK suggests that the East Tunnel pipe repair work was included in the critical path as of June 30, 2012. *See* VPFK Br. 74. VPFK has misread the King County Auditor's report, which analyzes the two fiscal quarters ending in March and June 2012 but was dated August 24, 2012. *See* CP 7425, 7427.

the County recognized any effect of the BT-1 pipe repairs on the critical path. CP 1742-45. As to Mr. Maus, when asked in May 2012 if he was aware of "other potential concurrent delays," he testified as follows:

I'm confident that there are other potential concurrent delays. I don't know what they are, and I'm equally – I'm equally confident that the County will present, you know, its presentation that says that these 18 months are the Central Tunnel's.

CP 1747 (referring to March 2011 through September 2012 delay caused by VPFK). There is nothing misleading about this testimony either; it merely confirms that King County's witnesses would testify – as they did – that the County's delay damages are directly attributable to VPFK.

VPFK's real complaint appears to be that the County did not advise it that pipe repair work in BT-1 would be needed, even though such work was not part of the critical path during the period for which King County was seeking delay damages from VPFK. If VPFK wanted that information, it could have – and should have – asked King County and its witnesses whether there were *any* delays in completion of BT-1. VPFK never requested such information during discovery, and it has no excuse for not investigating factual issues that Mr. Habashi identified as important. VPFK's decision was a strategic choice and, just as the trial court ruled, it should be held to that choice.

Unwilling to take responsibility for its choice, VPFK attacks the trial court's reasoning. In one line of attack, VPFK argues that "[t]o the extent the court's exclusionary ruling rested on the ground asserted by the County – that VPFK could not limit its expert's evidence to the East Tunnel (BT-1) delays – the court's ruling lacked support in the record." VPFK Br. 79. As an initial matter, the trial court never stated that it was basing its ruling on such a conclusion. In addition, the County never argued that VPFK's expert could not isolate any alleged impact of the BT-1 pipe repair work. Rather, King County's counsel argued that it would be very hard for VPFK "to extract the part that they claim is late" (RP 5043) -i.e., the BT-1 pipe repair work on the critical path – from other inadmissible portions of Mr. Habashi's proposed opinion testimony and disclaimed any objection if VPFK could do so (RP 5047 ("they can bring that [the East Contract pipe delay] in if they want")). 17 Regardless, VPFK never argued to the trial court that Mr. Habashi's analysis of the BT-1 pipe repair work could be carved out from other parts of his report. This argument should be ignored because it was not raised at trial.

¹⁷ VPFK also cites RP 5039 as an instance in which the County contended that the BT-1 pipe repair work and other inadmissible portions of Mr. Habashi's proposed opinion testimony "were inextricably combined." VPFK Br. 78. It is unclear why VPFK cites this page of the transcript, as there is no mention there of any other portions of Mr. Habashi's proposed testimony.

In VPFK's other line of attack, it argues that the trial court's ruling was manifestly unreasonable because the trial court, VPFK asserts, first allowed VPFK to take discovery regarding whether any of the delays on BT-1 occurred between March 2011 and September 2012 but then excluded the resulting evidence. VPFK Br. 81. The trial court permitted VPFK to conduct such discovery to determine if there was a concurrent delay. RP 3326. But the information that VPFK obtained was (a) information that it could *and should* have obtained and disclosed earlier and (b) ultimately irrelevant to King County's delay damages. This attack on the trial court's reasoning, like VPFK's other concurrent delay arguments, lacks merit.

Finally, VPFK's prejudice argument (VPFK Br. 81-82) likewise lacks merit. As will be explained below, the record confirms that VPFK was able to introduce evidence concerning the significance of concurrent delays, cross-examine King County's witnesses regarding the BT-1 pipe repair work, and argue its concurrent delay theory to the jury. As a result, even if the trial court erroneously excluded any portion of Mr. Habashi's proposed opinion testimony (which it did not), the resulting error was harmless. *See In re Det. of McGary*, 175 Wn. App. 328, 341, 306 P.3d 1005 (2013) ("Evidentiary error warrants reversal only when there is a reasonable probability that the error materially affected the outcome at

trial." (citing *In re Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410, 256 P.3d 302 (2011))).

Mr. Habashi testified that, in his view, the County's delay claim was "not based on a proper detailed schedule analysis, which is essential to be able to establish a delay for a certain problem." RP 5501-02. He explained the significance of the "critical path" (RP 5506), described examples of concurrent delay, and opined as to the significance of any concurrent delay on the project:

- Q. Now, if, hypothetically, there was another delay on the conveyance system that finishes after the Central contract, what would be the controlling critical delay then for the overall Brightwater project?
- A. It would be the other critical delay that delayed the project.
- Q. And if there's another controlling critical delay, what would that make the Central contract delay?
- A. It would make it the concurrent delay, but not the controlling delay.
- Q. And if the Central contract is the concurrent delay, what would that entitle King County to with regard to damages against VPFK?
- A. Not that much.

RP 5507-08. Thus, VPFK elicited testimony from Mr. Habashi establishing the framework for its theory that the BT-1 pipe repair work was a concurrent delay.

After doing so, VPFK examined King County's witnesses at trial about *any* concurrent delays and the method of calculating King County's

damages. VPFK's counsel first questioned Ms. Cochran regarding the project schedule, the BT-1 pipe defects, and the effect of the BT-1 pipe repair work on the critical path for the project. RP 5511-29. VPFK's counsel then examined Mr. Maus about concurrent delay and the BT-1 pipe repair work. RP 5935-39. Based on this evidence, the trial court instructed the jury on concurrent delays¹⁸ and VPFK's counsel then argued the issue in closing:

Remember how Mr. Habashi explained how the only accurate method to analyze a schedule delay is after the work is completed, for the benefit of 20/20 hindsight.

The history of this project has borne out that the actual cause of the delay for the startup of the treatment plant was the defective piping in BT-1. Of course, that's the County's responsibility, that's not VPFK's.

RP 7028. Thus, notwithstanding its deliberate failure to *timely* pursue discovery that would have shown the actual impact of any other alleged concurrent delay, VPFK nonetheless was able to argue this concurrent delay theory to the jury.

¹⁸ Instruction No. 23 states: "Some of King County's claimed damages relate to costs incurred because of the passage of time due to the later-than-planned startup of the Brightwater Project. VPFK claims that some or all of these delay damages were concurrently caused by factors for which VPFK is not responsible. Concurrent delay occurs when a Contractor and an Owner have both caused independent delays – separate delays each of which would delay completion of the project in the absence of the other. King County has the burden to prove that the delay damages it seeks were caused by VPFK's delays and by concurrent delays for which VPFK is not responsible." CP 9115.

As VPFK notes (VPFK Br. 81), the standard for determining prejudice is whether the evidentiary ruling at issue "entirely prevented the defendant from rebutting the plaintiff's evidence." *Aubin v. Barton*, 123 Wn. App. 592, 610, 98 P.3d 126 (2004). As the above discussion shows, VPFK was permitted to conduct discovery and re-depose witnesses during trial, examine witnesses at trial, present its expert on concurrent delay, and argue its theory (with a corresponding jury instruction) at closing.

Accordingly, even if the trial court erred (which it did not), any such error was harmless. Instead, the jury *correctly* concluded, as both Mr. Maus and Ms. Cochran testified, that the damages claimed by King County were all caused by VPFK's default, not by any concurrent delay in the East Contract. CP 1316-17. VPFK should not be permitted to avoid the full consequences of its default based on unrelated work by another contractor. In this respect as well, the Court should affirm.

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT REGARDING KING COUNTY'S CROSS-APPEAL

For its cross-appeal, King County raises a single issue: Whether the trial court erred in denying King County's motion for judgment as a matter of law with regard to VPFK's claims for "extended repair of rim bar." The trial court's ruling is reviewed de novo, applying "the same standard as the trial court." *Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 24, 29,

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